I. INTRODUCTION 

This case is about an employee's duty ofloyalty to her employer, 

and what the consequences should be for breaching that duty. Joyce Leah 

Burton is the former Director of Affiliated Mental Health Programs, Inc. 

("AMHP"). AMHP terminated her employment for performance issues, 

which the trial court correctly held amounted to "due cause" for 

termination under her employment contract. The trial court also correctly 

held that during the last 60 days of her contract's term, Burton breached 

her duty of loyalty to AMHP. This holding is amply supported by the 

evidence at trial that during that period, Burton began seeing and 

providing counseling to AMHP clients on her own, directed them to start 

sending their payments to her rather than the agency, and kept the 

payments for herself. 

Nevertheless, the trial court ordered AMHP to pay Burton's salary 

for this 60-day period, despite her breach of loyalty. The trial court erred 

by requiring AMHP to pay Burton for competing against the agency, and 

by failing to impose any consequences for her disloyal actions. 

The trial court also erred in holding that AMHP failed to prove that 

Burton tortiously interfered with AMHP's contractual relationships with 

its clients, even after the trial court found that the evidence established all 

of the elements of that claim. 
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On appeal, AMHP asks this Court to reverse the judgment in favor 

of Burton for the 60 days' salary, to direct entry of judgment in favor of 

AMHP on its tortious interference claim, and to remand the case to the 

trial court for determination of AMHP's damages. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

AMHP assigns error to: 

1. The trial court's entry of judgment in favor of Burton. CP 

219-220. 

2. The trial court's Findings of Fact Nos. 4, 5, 11-13, and 17. 

CP 127-129. 

3. The trial court's Conclusions of Law Nos. 4, 6, 7, 9, and 

10. CP 129-130. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED 

AMHP's appeal presents the following issues: 

1. Whether the trial court erred by awarding Burton her salary 

for the last 60 days of her employment contract with AMHP, despite the 

trial court's holding that she breached her duty of loyalty during that 

period. 

2. Whether the trial court erred by holding that AMHP failed 

to carry its burden of proving that Burton tortiously interfered with its 

contractual relationships with its clients, despite the trial court's 
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Contract"). CP 23-26; FOF 2. Paragraph 5 ofthe Contract, titled 

"TERMINATION," states that "AMHP may terminate this agreement 

with 60 days notice and with due cause and upon payment of 

compensation due to the Director for services rendered to the date of 

termination." CP 24. Paragraph 10 of the Contract, titled 

"COMPETITION," states that "[t]he Director promises not to approach or 

solicit from AMHP clients on whose behalf Director has done any work 

pursuant to this contract for a period of three years from the date of the 

Director's completion ofthe work for the agency." CP 25. 

3. The Agreement for Services. 

AMHP requires its clients to sign an Agreement for Services, 

which sets forth the terms of the mental health counseling and related 

services the agency will provide (the "Agreement for Services"). Ex. 140 

at Bates Nos. 203-205. This client contract states that it will remain in 

effect until terminated by either party in accordance with the contract's 

termination clause. Id. at Bates No. 203. Paragraph 7 of the Agreement 

for Services, titled "Termination," states that "[t]his Agreement may be 

terminated by either party with 30 days written notice," which "is a 

minimum amount of time necessary to provide a smooth transition for the 

client and other parties involved." Id. at Bates No. 204. 
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Paragraph 4 of the Agreement for Services, titled "Promise to Pay 

Fees," states that the client (or the guardian or sponsor who is financially 

responsible for the client) promises to remit payment to AMHP for the 

counseling services received. Ex. 140 at Bates No. 203. 

Paragraph 10 of the Agreement for Services, titled "Assignment of 

Work," states that "[t]he parties agree that AMHP has the sole discretion 

to hire individuals to provide the services called for in this agreement." 

Ex. 140 at Bates No. 205. It further states that: 

Id. 

AMHP staff leaving the agency is expected 
to establish a professional and appropriate 
termination of relationship with any clients 
followed for AMHP. AMHP will assign 
new, compatible and competent staff. 
AMHP strives for continuity of care which 
is best provided by the agency as a whole 
and is not dependent on any individual 
alone. 

Burton helped write the Agreement for Services, and as Director 

made sure that all of AMHP's clients signed it. RP 60-63. She 

understood that it was up to AMHP to decide which counselor to assign to 

a particular client. RP 65-66. She admits that when counselors left the 

agency, AMHP' s practice was to reassign the clients they had been 

responsible for counseling to other AMHP staff members. RP 67-68. She 
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also admits that when she was Director, she expected departing staff 

members to terminate their relationships with AMHP's clients. RP 66-67. 

4. AMHP Gives Burton 60 Days' Notice of 
Termination. 

There were several performance issues that caused AMHP to 

terminate Burton's employment. FOF 5. For the first six months of2009, 

the agency's gross income was down approximately $45,000 compared to 

the same period the prior year - a staggering drop for such a small agency. 

FOF 5; RP 7-10; Ex. 132 at 1. Most of this drop was attributable to the 

fact that the agency's "care coordination fees" - the payments the 

agency's counselors bring in from treating clients - were way down. RP 

1O-11? Burton admits that by early 2009, AMHP was no longer fiscally 

sound, which was causing a "tremendous amount of stress" for everyone 

at the agency. RP 13-14. In addition, Becker disapproved of Burton's 

management style, including her insensitivity to staff members and her 

abrupt and disrespectful manner of communicating. FOF 6; COL 5. 

AMHP decided that a change in leadership was necessary. On July 

13,2009, Becker met with Burton and gave her 60 days' written notice of 

the termination of her employment. Ex. I. In the notice, AMHP made 

2 For the first six months of2009, AMHP's care coordination fees were down about 
$52,000 compared to the same period the prior year, which Burton concedes was a "very 
serious drop." Ex. 132 at I; RP 10-11. 
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clear that while Burton would no longer be required to render services to 

the agency, the effective date of her termination was September 11,2009-

60 days out - and she would be paid her salary through that date. Ex. 1; 

FOF 9; RP 50-51. The notice also reminded Burton of her obligations 

under the Contract's "Competition" provision, which prohibited her from 

approaching or soliciting AMHP clients. Ex. 1. Becker told Burton not to 

contact the clients she had been counseling, and that the agency would 

take care of them. RP 51-52. 

5. While Still an Employee, Burton Begins Seeing 
AMHP Clients on Her Own for Her Own 
Financial Gain. 

Within a week or two after receiving her 60-day notice of 

termination, Burton began seeing AMHP clients on her own. RP 69-70; 

Ex. 138 at 5-6. She admits that during the notice period from July 13 

through September 11,2009, she provided counseling to a total of four 

AMHP clients. Id. She says she did "some" of this counseling for free, 

but admits that the clients paid her for the rest of it. RP 74; CP 41-42. 

Moreover, she admits that she told the clients to start sending their 

payments directly to her, rather than to AMHP; that they did as she 

instructed; and that she did not forward any of the payments she received 

to the agency. RP 74-75; CP 30. 
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Burton says she kept the payments for herself because the clients 

contacted her (rather than the other way around) and asked her to continue 

treating them; she did not solicit them. CP 30; FOF 12; RP 115-116. She 

also says she felt professionally obligated to continue seeing the clients. 

RP 81. She does not claim, however, that she was professionally or 

ethically obligated to tell the clients to start sending their payments to her. 

Id. She admits that nothing prevented her from remitting the payments 

she received to AMHP. Id. 

Burton also admits that when she began seeing the clients on her 

own, she did not tell them to give AMHP 30 days' written notice that they 

were terminating their relationship with the agency - even though she 

knew this was required by the Agreement for Services. RP 64-65. She 

does not claim that anything prevented her from doing that. Id. 

6. Burton Ignores AMHP's Warnings That She Is 
Breaching Her Duty of Loyalty. 

In late July 2009, AMHP repeatedly warned Burton, in writing, 

that she was still the agency's employee and was in breach of her duty of 

loyalty; that she could not take AMHP's clients and pocket the payments 

for herself while still expecting to be paid a salary by the agency; and that 

if she continued to divert money from AMHP clients to herself, the agency 

would no longer be obligated to continue paying her. Exs. 112, 114. 
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Burton read and understood these letters from AMHP. RP 79-80. She 

ignored AMHP's warnings, however, and continued seeing AMHP clients 

and keeping the payments for herself. RP 74; Ex. 138 at 6. 

7. AMHP Notifies Burton That She Has Forfeited 
Her Salary. 

On August 11,2009, AMHP sent a letter to Burton infonning her 

that she had forfeited any right under the Contract to payment of 

additional salary and benefits. Ex. 37. The agency explained in the letter 

that "[y]ou cannot take AMHP's clients and pocket the proceeds, and still 

expect to continue receiving a salary from AMHP." Id. at 1. The letter 

enclosed Burton's final paycheck covering her salary through July 13, 

2009, plus another check cashing out her accrued but unused vacation. Id. 

It also infonned her that AMHP had paid her health and dental insurance 

coverage through July 31, and explained how she could elect continuation 

coverage at her own expense. Id. 

Burton continued treating AMHP clients through August 2010-

over a year after she stopped working for AMHP. RP 74. She says she 

received a total of$4,125 in payments from those clients, $1,125 of which 
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was for counseling she provided during the 60-day notice period from July 

13 through September 11,2009. RP 75-77; Ex. 137.3 

B. Procedural History. 

1. The Parties' Claims. 

In October 2009, Burton filed suit against AMHP and Becker in 

King County Superior Court. Her Complaint alleged that Defendants (1) 

terminated her without "due cause" in breach of the Employment 

Contract; (2) further breached the Contract by not continuing to pay her 

salary during the 60-day notice period; and (3) used her image on 

AMHP's web site without her permission. CP 6-7. 

Defendants denied any liability and asserted counterclaims against 

Burton for (1) breach of the Contract's "Competition" provision; (2) 

breach of her duty of loyalty; and (3) tortious interference with AMHP's 

contractual and business relationships. CP 17-19. In her reply to 

Defendants' counterclaims, Burton admitted that she had continued to 

3 For purposes of this appeal, AMHP does not contest Burton's estimate of the income 
she received from AMHP clients. AMHP notes, however, that her estimate is almost 
certainly low. During the first half of 2009, Burton personally provided counseling to 
between four and six AMHP clients. RP 26-27, 77. Those clients provided income to the 
agency of at least $4,500 per month, and sometimes as much as $10,000 a month. RP 27-
29, 77-78. Burton says that after she received the notice of termination, she began 
providing "some" of this counseling for free, CP 41-42, but that does not fully explain 
how the payments from the four clients she continued to see suddenly become so much 
lower. Burton admits that her calculations of the amounts she made are "based on my 
recollection" of the payments she received, not on contemporaneous documentation. RP 
78. It is also undisputed that Burton failed to report earnings from her continued 
treatment of AMHP clients when she applied for unemployment benefits, and as a result 
ended up having to pay back over $1,000 of those benefits. RP 121-126; Exs. 144, 145. 
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treat AMHP clients and had kept the payments for herself. CP 29-30. She 

argued, however, that her duty of loyalty to AMHP was outweighed by the 

clients' right to choose their counselor. CP 82-89, 104-107. 

2. The Trial Court's Ruling. 

The case was tried without a jury on April 25-28 and August 8, 

2011 . CP 108-118. Before the trial, Defendants withdrew their 

counterclaim based on the Contract's "Competition" clause. CP 83-84. 

During the trial, after Burton rested her case, the trial court granted 

Defendants' motion to dismiss (1) Burton's claim that AMHP had used 

her image on its web site without permission, and (2) her claims against 

Becker as an individual defendant. CP 115-116. Burton filed a motion for 

reconsideration of the dismissal of her claims against Becker, which the 

trial court denied on the last day of trial. CP 117, 120-125. 

On September 22, 2011, the trial court issued its Findings of Fact 

and Conclusions oflaw. CP 127-130. The trial court found that "AMHP 

decided to terminate Ms. Burton's employment for fair and honest 

reasons"; that the decision "was not based on arbitrary, capricious, or 

illegal reasons"; and that the decision "was based on facts supported by 

substantial evidence and reasonably believed by AMHP to be true." FOF 

8. The trial court concluded that AMHP had "due cause" to terminate 

Burton under the Contract. COL 4-6. 
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The trial court held, however, that AMHP breached the Contract 

by refusing to continue paying Burton's salary during the 60-day notice 

period. COL 6-7. The trial court found that Burton "did continue seeing 

and treating a few AMHP clients," and that "she kept the payments she 

received for her services," but noted that these clients had "sought her 

out." FOF 11-12. The trial court concluded that Burton had committed a 

"breach of her duty ofloyalty." COL 8. Nevertheless, the trial court held 

that AMHP was still obligated to continue paying her salary - apparently 

because Burton had not solicited the clients, who had made their own 

"independent choices" to leave AMHP. COL 6; FOF 11-13. 

The trial court also concluded that all of the elements of AMHP's 

counterclaim for tortious interference were "easily satisfied" by the 

evidence. COL 8. Inexplicably, however, and without explanation, the 

trial court then held that AMHP had "failed to carry its burden of proof' 

on that claim. COL 9. 

3. The Judgment. 

The trial court ordered AMHP to pay Burton her salary and 

uninsured medical costs for the 60-day notice period, less mitigating 

income and benefits she received for the same period. FOF 17.4 In 

4 Burton's salary was $5,250 per month, or $10,500 over a two-month period. Ex. 3 at 
Bates Nos. 215-216. 
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response to a motion by AMHP to amend certain findings relating to 

damages, the trial court revised and clarified the amount owed and the 

applicable offsets. CP 293-294. 

On February 23, 2012, the trial court entered judgment against 

AMHP in the amount of$7,009.25. CP 219-220. The trial court also 

assessed $750 in sanctions against Burton, to be offset against the 

judgment amount, for filing a late and overlength reply brief in support of 

her proposed judgment. CP 217-218. As a result, the net amount of the 

judgment entered against AMHP is $6,259.25. 

AMHP timely appealed the judgment on March 5, 2012. CP 229-

304. Burton timely cross-appealed. 

V. ARGUMENT 

The trial court correctly held that Burton breached her duty of 

loyalty to AMHP, but erred in requiring AMHP to continue paying her 

salary in spite of her breach. The trial court correctly held that the 

evidence satisfied all ofthe elements of AMHP's counterclaim for tortious 

interference, but erroneously (and inconsistently) held that AMHP failed 

to carry its burden of proof on that claim. This Court should reverse the 

judgment in favor of Burton on her claim that AMHP breached the 

Contract by failing to pay her salary, should reverse the trial court's 
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dismissal of AMHP' s claim of tortious interference, and should remand 

the case for a determination of AMHP's damages. 

A. The Trial Court Correctly Held That Burton Breached 
Her Duty of Loyalty to AMHP. 

"An agent has a fiduciary duty to act loyally for the principal's 

benefit in all matters connected with the agency relationship." 

Restatement (Third) of Agency § 8.01 (2006). This general fiduciary 

principle applies to employees. Id. at Comment c. Thus, "[u]nder 

Washington law, it is well established that a common law duty ofloyalty 

exists between an employee and his current employer, even where no 

covenant not to compete exists." Keystone Fruit Marketing, Inc. v. 

Brownfield, 2008 WL 1971412 at *5 (E.D. Wash. 2008). Because ofthis 

duty, during the period of his or her employment, an employee cannot "act 

in direct competition with his or her employer's business." Kieburtz & 

Associates, Inc. v. Rehn, 68 Wn. App. 260, 265 (1992) (citing Restatement 

(Second) of Agency § 393 Comment e (1958)). 

During the 60-day notice period, when Burton was still an 

employee of AMHP, she acted in direct competition with the agency by 

treating AMHP clients on her own, directing them to start sending their 

payments to her rather than the agency, and keeping the proceeds for 

herself. RP 69-70, 74-75; Ex. 138 at 5-6. Moreover, she persisted in 
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doing this even after AMHP repeatedly warned her to stop. Exs. 112, 114; 

RP 79-80. By continuing to act in a way directly at odds with her 

employer's interests, Burton breached her duty of loyalty. See Keystone, 

2008 WL 1971412 at *6 (employee who worked to establish a competing 

business while still employed by employer violated his duty of loyalty); 

Restatement (Third) of Agency § 8.04 Comment b (2006) (an agent must 

"place the principal's interests first as to matters connected with the 

agency relationship"). 

The trial court's conclusion that Burton breached her duty of 

loyalty to AMHP is clearly correct. COL 8. 

B. The Trial Court Erred in Requiring AMHP to Pay 
Burton's Salary for the Period of Her Disloyalty. 

As a general rule, an agent is entitled to "no compensation" for 

conduct which is "disobedient" or "a breach of his duty ofloyalty." Kane 

V. Klos, 50 Wn.2d 778, 789 (1957) (citing Restatement (Second) of 

Agency § 469 (1958)); Merkley v. MacPherson's, Inc., 69 Wn.2d 776, 778 

(1966) (same); Keystone, 2008 WL 1971412 at *7 (same); MSC Venture 

Corp. v. Goei, 2009 WL 1423567 at *11 (W.D. Wash. 2009) (same). An 

employee who acts contrary to his employer's interests forfeits his right to 
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be paid any salary "during the period in which he breached his duty of 

loyalty." Keystone, 2008 WL 1971412 at *8.5 

On July 13,2009, AMHP gave Burton the 60 days' notice required 

by the Contract, and expressly stated that it would continue paying her 

salary through September 11. Ex. 1; RP 50-51. It was only after Burton 

persisted in breaching her duty of loyalty that AMHP informed her that it 

would not make these payments. Ex. 37. By competing with AMHP 

when she was still an employee, Burton forfeited her right to continue 

receiving her salary. See, e.g., Keystone, 2008 WL 1971412 at *8 

(requiring employee who set up a business competing with his employer 

to reimburse $145,000 in salary paid to employee during period of 

disloyalty); MSC Venture Corp., 2009 WL 1423567 at * 11 (employer not 

liable for unpaid wages if employee breached duty of loyalty); Cogan v. 

Kidder, Mathews & Segner, Inc., 97 Wn.2d 658,666-68 (1982) (real 

5 See also Astra USA, Inc. v. Bildman, 455 Mass. 116,914 N.E.2d 36, 47 (2009) (disloyal 
employee must "forfeit his compensation even ifhe otherwise perfonned valuable 
services for the principal"); Phansalkar v. Andersen Weinroth & Co., 344 F.3d 184,200 
(2nd Cir. 2003) ("One who owes a duty of fidelity to a principal who is faithless in the 
perfonnance of his services is generally disentitled to recover his compensation, whether 
commissions or salary"); Zakibe v. Ahrens & McCarron, Inc., 28 S.W.3d 373,385 (Mo. 
App. 2000) ("An agent who breaches a fiduciary duty likewise forfeits any right to 
compensation"); Riggs Inv. Management Corp. v. Columbia Partners, L.L.c., 966 F. 
Supp. 1250, 1266 (D.D.C. 1997) ("no compensation is owed an employee who has 
breached his duty of loyalty to his employer"); Horton v. Whitehill, 121 Or. App. 336, 
854 P.2d 977, 980 (1993) (corporate officer who breaches duty of loyalty "is not entitled 
to any compensation for services during that period of time even though part of those 
services may have been properly perfonned"). 
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estate broker forfeited right to $19,000 in commissions by violating duty 

ofloyalty).6 

In addition, "[b ]ecause it constitutes a material breach of the 

contract by the agent, an agent's breach of fiduciary duty may also

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