68434-5

No. 68434-5

## WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE



#### **JOYCE LEAH BURTON**

**Respondent / Cross-Appellant** 

v.

## JANICE BECKER and AFFILIATED MENTAL HEALTH PROGRAMS, INC.

**Appellants / Cross-Respondents** 

### SECOND AMENDED OPENING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT / CROSS-APPELLANT

F. Hunter MacDonald The MacDonald Law Office Attorneys for Respondent / Cross-Appellant Joyce Leah Burton

Post Office Box 1761 Tacoma, WA 98401 Tel 206-280-0079 Fax 253-383-6352

##

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

#### ARGUMENT

<u>The Trial Court's Judgment Amount is Less Than Any</u> <u>Possible Calculation of the Improperly Withheld Wages</u> - If one divides the AMHP wages Burton received between January 1, 2009 and July 13, 2009, (\$47,747.51), by the amount of calendar days represented, (194), her earnings are \$246.12 per calendar day, not per workday. The \$47,747.52 total is in the payroll records and includes all vacation and deferred compensation, as of July 13, 2009, even if it was paid later. (See CP 132 and 138, Exhs 3 and 135).

Burton calculates her gross lost wages amount as 60 days x \$246.12 per day for a total \$14,767,27 because the Trial Court's COL 7 concluded that AMHP owed Burton salary and benefits for 60 days past July 13, 2009. It is conceded by Burton that AMHP should be granted a set-off of \$1,125.00 for the \$1,125.00 Burton earned from treating the former AMHP clients during the 60 days following July 13, 2009, thus making Burton's **actual** lost wages \$13,642.27, after the set-off.

<u>Double Damages and Entry of Judgment Against Becker</u> <u>is Allowed Under RCW 49.52 To Discourage the Acts of AMHP</u> <u>and Becker</u> – Under RCW 49.52.070, "[a]ny employer ... who shall violate any of the provisions of RCW 49.52.050 (1) and (2) shall be

-18-

liable in a civil action by the aggrieved employee ... to judgment for twice the amount of the wages unlawfully rebated or withheld by way of exemplary damages, together with costs of suit and a reasonable sum for attorney's fees. RCW 49.52.070

It is a violation of RCW 49.52.050(2) if: Any employer ... whether said employer be in private business or an elected public official, ... willfully and with intent to deprive the employee of any part of his/her wages, shall pay any employee a lower wage than the wage such employer is obligated to pay such employee by any statute, ordinance, or contract ...

Burton's complaint, itself, in part, asked for "damages related to the above claims ... attorney's fees, costs, and disbursements allowable under statute ... pre-judgment interest," and "such other relief as the Court deems just and equitable." CP 8. In a sister jurisdiction, it has been ruled that it is not necessary to cite the statute under which recovery is sought if the statute is intended to further a public policy. <u>Tiano v Elsensohn</u>, 268 Ore 166, 169-170, 520 P2d 358 (1974), (It suffices as notice to the opposing party that the plaintiff intends to avail itself of its statutory rights to its reasonable actual attorney's fees if the underlying allegation is listed in the complaint). As such, if pre-trial notice was required for relief in the form of double damages, Burton provided it.

-19-

Denying Double Damages Was an Abuse of the Trial Court's Discretion, Even If the Trial Court Determined the Pleadings Need to Be Conformed to the Evidence - Even if a failure to list the particular double damages statute in her complaint was a procedural flaw, this does not foreclose Burton from receiving relief in accordance with those statutes. See <u>Tiano</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Safeport, Inc. Equipment Roundup and Manufacturing</u>. Inc., 184 Ore App 690, 698-701, 60 P3d 1076 (Ore Court of Appeals 2002).

The correct remedy, if conformation of the pleadings is required, is to grant the plaintiff leave to amend his/her complaint, even after trial has concluded, where doing so is not the product of a "unilateral effort by the petitioner to interject entirely new claims in the litigation [but rather] to cure deficiencies that Defendant identified." <u>Safeport, Inc. Equipment Roundup and Manufacturing,</u> Inc., 184 Ore App 690, 698-701, esp 701.

After considering the relevant factors governing the trial court's discretion, we conclude that the trial court erred in denying defendant's motion to amend its pleading to allege compliance with ORS 87.057(2) [even after summary judgment had been entered and more than two years had passed since the original pleading of the moving party was filed]. Accordingly we reverse and remand for entry of a judgment

awarding attorney fees to defendant [i.e.,the moving party]. <u>Safeport</u> at 700-01.<sup>6</sup>

The exercise of discretion, under <u>Safeport</u>, is considered under four bases. <u>Id</u> at 699. None of the bases apply in this case. Any AMHP objection to double damages boils down to a bad faith attempt to avoid the repercussions which should flow from AMHP depriving Burton of her salary and benefits.

# AMHP and Becker Knew, Long Before Trial, That There Was No Justification for Withholding Burton's Salary During the 60 Days After July 13, 2009 - As of April 8, 2011, (17 days before trial), AMHP had actual notice that the former AMHP clients were entitled to exercise their own choices about who to treat with because the relevant statutory and case authority was within Burton's "Pre-Trial Memorandum of Law Re. Public Policy Exception," as well as the filed declarations of three of the parents/payors of the mental health clients. CP 80-103, esp CP 96-102. On April 8, 2011, Burton filed and served P.B's, D.E.'s, and M.S.'s declarations on AMHP and each testified that they solicited Burton to provide treatment after rejecting AMHP's offers to switch the patient to another therapist. CP 96-102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Washington's Court Rule for amendment of pleadings, CR 15, is substantially similar, if not identical, to the Oregon Court Rule, ORCP 23 cited in <u>Safeport</u>.

P.B. would testify that even after he told AMHP's owner, ("Becker"), that his daughter "needed desperately to talk with [Burton] ... Beckar (sic) still refused to give me any contact info. To make a long story short that night my daughter wound up in the psychiatric ward at Harborview Hospital ... I am trying to remember when or if I have ever dealt with a more careless, insensitive, rude health care professional, it that is the title Ms. Beckar (sic) claims." CP 96-98.

Presumably, AMHP also has constructive knowledge of RCW 18.225.100 since it is a mental health services provider. It should have known patient choice and patient care prevails over its own contractual clauses.

Also, AMHP knew it was not necessary to withhold all of Burton's salary and benefits to cover any potential Employment Security Department, ("ESD"), set-offs because AMHP is not responsible for protecting the interests of ESD.

#### Withholding Salary Was Simply a Tactical Maneuver -

AMHP knew, as early as February 28, 2011, that it had withheld much more salary than necessary to set off any amount otherwise inappropriately acquired by Burton from former AMHP clients because Burton's discovery responses stated she earned approximately \$500.00 per month in August and September 2009

-22-

from these client and AMHP did not enter any contrary evidence at trial. CP 139, Exh 138, pp 9-10. In addition, AMHP certainly had no reason to believe Burton's insurance could be replaced when it terminated those benefits.

The total amount of compensation Burton received in the 60 days, following July 13, 2009, from the three families, was \$1,125.00. (CP 139, Exh 137).<sup>7</sup> Burton did not receive any compensation for any therapy sessions with former AMHP clients until August 4, 2009. (CP 139, Exh 137). AMHP knew they were overreaching.

## Any Allegation That All of Burton's Wages Were

### Arguably Subject to Withholding is Not Supported by the

<u>Undisputed Facts</u> – The paragraphs above indicate that, at least in the two-month time period before trial, AMHP willfully withheld wages in an amount greater than any set-off it could hope to achieve in terms of dollar amount. The non-AMHP income that Burton had earned in the 60 days after July 13, 2009 had been disclosed and was not disputed. As a result, AMHP knew, two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Defendant's Trial Exhibit 137, (CP 139) is an exact duplicate of the document referenced at page 30 of Defendant's Trial Exhibit 138, (CP 139) as Burton's "Accounting for Self-Employment Income after July 13, 2009." In other words, Defendant's Trial Exhibit 138 is a set of discovery responses and Defendant's Trial Exhibit 137 is one of the documents provided by Burton to AMHP, on, or around, February 28, 2011 in response to its discovery requests.

months before trial, that it owed Burton at least as much in wages as the amount proposed, before adding double damages, in Burton's judgment summary.

By withholding all salary, AMHP was simply pursuing a strategy of go-for-broke. The go-for-broke theory, though, could not ever have been raised in good faith, especially after April 8, 2011.

As of April 8, 2011, AMHP had been put on actual notice of the previously described plain, unambiguous language of RCW 18.225.100, <u>Danny v Laidlaw Transit</u>, 165 Wn2d 200, 221-7, 193 P3d 128 (2008),<sup>8</sup> <u>Gardner v Loomis Armored, Inc.</u>, 128 Wn2d 931, 941, 913 P2d 377 (1996), and the American Mental Health Counselor Association's Code of Ethics. It should be presumed that, as a mental health treatment provider, AMHP is fluent in the English language, but AMHP continued to trial against Burton for her supposed tortious interference with AMHP's business relationships.

AMHP did not prevail at trial, nor ever have any basis to believe it would prevail, for reasons that were plainly apparent on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> <u>Danny</u>'s and <u>Gardner</u>'s public policy exception is well-settled in Washington and elsewhere. See Lopatka, *The Emerging Law of Wrongful Discharge-A Quadrennial Assessment of the Labor Law Issue of the 80's*, 40 Bus.Law 1, 6-17 (1984) and Note, *Protecting Employees at Will Against Wrongful Discharge: The Public Policy Exception*, 96 Harv.L.Rev. 1931(1983).

April 8, 2011: AMHP's right to succeed as a business does not trump a patient's right to treat with whomever he or she chooses. It simply defies imagination for AMHP to assert or imply that AMHP's owner, Janice Becker, could have reasonably thought, prior to trial, that she had the right to withhold the wages and benefits of Burton as a penalty for treating patients who, on their own, solicited Burton.

#### Burton is Entitled to Double Damages as the

<u>Substantially Prevailing Party</u> - "A party need not recover its entire claim in order to be considered the prevailing party." <u>Silverdale Hotel Assocs v Lomas & Nettleton Co.</u>, 36 WnApp 762, 774, 677 P2d 773 (Div 2,1984). In <u>Silverdale</u>, it was determined that the respondent, (Silverdale), was entitled to its attorney's fees as the prevailing party, despite the fact that Silverdale lost its claims, at trial, for "[some] claimed costs, expenses and possible liabilities" that resulted from the appellant's breach. <u>Id</u> at 772-77. Silverdale was entitled to attorney's fees because it was the only party who prevailed on any of its claims.

Likewise, Burton is entitled to a judgment for the amount that remained unpaid to her, (60 days salary and benefits), because of AMHP's breach, less an offset for other income acquired during the 60 day period. Burton is entitled to her double damages for the same reason that Silverdale was entitled to its attorney's fees; Burton was the only prevailing party.

## Any Historical Requirement that a Double Damages Statute Be Listed in the Complaint was Overruled by

**Beckmann** – The Beckmann Court, in 1987, ruled on the applicability of in-pleading requirements for reasonable actual attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.250 and treble damages, for timber cases, under RCW 64.12.030. See Beckmann v Spokane <u>Transit Authority</u>, 107 Wn2d 785, 790, 733 P2d 960 (1987), (overruling <u>Warren v Glascam Builders</u>, 40, WnApp 229, 698 P2d 565 (1985) and <u>Tatum v Cable</u>, 30 WnApp 580, 636 P2d 508 (1981), *review denied*, 97 Wn2d 1007 (1982)).

When Beckmann filed her original complaint, RCW 4.84.250 provided for actual reasonable attorney's fees in matters where a judgment of less than \$3,000.00 was sought.<sup>9</sup> <u>Id</u> at 787-90.<sup>10</sup>

RCW 4.84.250's explicit statutory requirement that notice of the selected statute be in the pleadings was voided and overruled

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Currently, the RCW 4.84.250 amount is \$10,000.00.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The issue of whether any or all of RCW 4.84.250's requirements were independently applicable to RCW 64.12.030 cases, pre-<u>Beckmann</u>, was mentioned, but not clarified or resolved, in <u>Beckmann</u> at 788. That issue is not examined in this brief because the issue became irrelevant after <u>Beckmann</u> was decided.

by the Beckmann court for cases like Warren, supra. Beckmann at

787-90, esp. 788 and 790. Likewise, any in-pleading requirement

for treble damages under the statute(s) at issue in <u>Tatum</u>, <u>supra</u>,

was overruled.

It should be noted that the explicit in-pleading, pre-Warren,

notice requirement was eviscerated by the Washington Supreme

Court for sound policy reasons:

[Warren and Tatum] give little justification for why notice at such an early stage is required. The purpose of RCW 4.84.250 is to encourage out-ofcourt settlements and to penalize parties who unjustifiably bring or resist small clams ... "[t]he obvious legislative intent is to enable a party to pursue a meritorious small claim without seeing his award diminished in whole or in part by legal fees." [citing] *Northside Auto Serv Inc v Consumers United Ins Co*, 25 WnApp 486, 492, 607 P2d 890 (1980). Beckmann at 788-89.<sup>11</sup>

Beckmann's policy reasons have been repeated in cases

upholding attorney's fees in wage recovery actions, Firefighters and

Hayes, infra. The double damages provisions of RCW 49.52

should, likewise, be enforced.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Additional following language in the <u>Beckmann</u> opinion regarding the 10 day pre-trial notice requirement of RCW 4.84.250 is omitted from this brief because, as stated above, 4.84.250 is not the statute at issue in the above-captioned case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Under RCW 49.52.070, "[a]ny employer ... who shall violate any of the provisions of RCW 49.52.050 (1) and (2) shall be liable in a civil action by the aggrieved employee ... to judgment for twice the

"[RCW 49.48.030] ... must be construed to effectuate its purpose." Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 46 v City of Everett, 146 Wn2d 29, 41, 42 P3d 1265 (2002). The purpose of this statute is to make the successful plaintiff whole. <u>Hayes v Trulock</u>, 51 WnApp 795, 755 P2d 830 (1988).

It Was Not Within the Trial Court's Equity Powers to Create a Windfall for AMHP by Deducting ESD Payments from the Judgment Amount - A windfall was created for AMHP when the Trial Court elected to discount the judgment against AMHP by the amount of Employment Security Department, ("ESD"), payments to Burton during the Severance Period. AMHP or Burton, instead, should have been ordered to deposit the ESD setoff amount into the registry of the Trial Court and then move the Trial Court to disburse the funds to ESD because these funds do not belong to AMHP or Burton.

This case should be remanded to the Trial Court with directions to amend the judgment in accordance with the above directions in order to avoid creating a windfall for AMHP and,

amount of the wages unlawfully rebated or withheld by way of exemplary damages, together with costs of suit and a reasonable sum for attorney's fees.

It is a violation of RCW 49.52.050(2) if: Any employer ... whether said employer be in private business or an elected public official, ... willfully and with intent to deprive the employee of any part of his/her wages, shall pay any employee a lower wage than

possibly, an unknowing attempt by ESD to obtain double recovery against Burton for the ESD payments made to Burton because if Burton's wages not been wrongfully withheld, she would not have been eligible for, nor received, the ESD payments.

<u>There Is No Evidence in the Record that the Families of</u> <u>P.B., D.E., or M.S. Ever Signed an Agreement Requiring 30</u> <u>Days Notice Before Terminating AMHP</u> – AMHP's Opening Brief mentions an alleged 30 Day Notice Requirement before a client may terminate services with AMHP. Any such requirement would be void as against a statutory public policy directive mandating patient choice, i.e., RCW 18.225.100, infra, but, nevertheless, there is no evidence in the record that P.B., D.E., M.S., or their families had such written agreements with AMHP. Therefore, this argument should not be considered by the Court.

Those portions of AMHP's Opening Brief which mention or rely upon the 30 day notice requirement should be stricken or ignored.

In addition, AMHP is not being entirely truthful when it states that Burton helped write the agreement, made sure all of AMHP's clients signed it, and expected her staff members to follow what it said. (AMHP Opening Brief at pp 4-6 and 24). Burton's actual

the wage such employer is obligated to pay such employee by any

-29-

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